#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO. 519
PENSION TRUST FUND; AND CITY OF
STERLING HEIGHTS POLICE AND FIRE
RETIREMENT SYSTEM, DERIVATIVELY
ON BEHALF OF NOMINAL DEFENDANT
DISH NETWORK CORPORATION,

Appellants,

VS.

CHARLES W. ERGEN; JAMES DEFRANCO; CANTEY M. ERGEN; STEVEN R. GOODBARN; DAVID K. MOSKOWITZ; TOM A. ORTOLF; CARL E. VOGEL; GEORGE R. BROKAW; JOSEPH P. CLAYTON; GARY S. HOWARD; DISH NETWORK CORPORATION, A NEVADA CORPORATION; AND DISH NETWORK SPECIAL LITIGATION COMMITTEE COUNSEL,

Electronically Filed
Mar 26 2021 04:39 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
Supreme Court No. 81704

District Court No. A-17-763397-B

Respondents.

#### II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is from the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered in this action on the 17th day of July, 2020, with the Notice of Entry filed on July 31, 2020, and Judgment entered in this action on the 3rd day of August, 2020, with the Notice of Entry of Judgment filed on August 4, 2020. Volume 77 Joint Appendix at 017610-32 (hereinafter cited as [Volume#]JA\_\_); 77JA017633-58; 77JA017659-61; 77JA017662-67. Plumbers Local Union No. 519 Pension Trust Fund and City of Sterling Heights Police and Fire Retirement System timely filed a Notice of Appeal on August 25, 2020. 77JA017668-71.

This Court has jurisdiction over the matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(a) and (b)(1) which provides for an appeal from a final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered.

#### III. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) because it involves questions of first impression regarding the evaluation of a motion for summary judgment by a corporation's Special Litigation Committee ("SLC"). The Court also retains jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9) because the appeal is from a business court order. Finally, the Court retains jurisdiction pursuant

to NRAP 17(a)(12) because this appeal concerns issues of statewide importance regarding Nevada's corporate law and issues in which Plaintiffs-Appellants request that this Court reconsider a prior ruling due to conflicts with other cases.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the District Court Erred in Refusing to Apply the Summary-Judgment Standard to the SLC's Motion for Summary Judgment
- B. Whether the SLC's Purported Investigation of the AVC-Based Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claim Was Unworthy of Deference as *Pro Forma* and Half-Hearted Because the SLC's Procedures Did Not Include Review of Whether the *Krakauer* and *Dish II* Adjudications Supported an Inference that Defendants Breached Their Fiduciary Duties to Ensure Dish's Compliance with the Duties Imposed by the AVC
- C. Whether the SLC's Purported Investigation of the TCPA-Based Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claim Was Unworthy of Deference as *Pro Forma* and Half-Hearted Because the SLC's Procedures Did Not Include Review of Whether the *Krakauer* and *Dish II* Adjudications Supported an Inference that Defendants Breached Their Fiduciary Duties to Ensure Dish's Compliance with the TCPA
- D. Whether the SLC Recommendation of Dismissal Was Not Supported by an Independent Majority of SLC Members Because the District Court Did Not Find One SLC Member Was Disinterested and the Remaining Two Members Disagreed on SLC Procedures

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a shareholder-derivative action on behalf of nominal-defendant DISH Network Corporation ("Dish") for breach of fiduciary duties of loyalty and good faith by Dish's senior executives in connection with Dish's violations of the 2009 Assurance of Voluntary Compliance ("AVC") entered with Attorneys General of 46 states and of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act ("TCPA"). 4JA000683-86(¶1-9); 4JA000690-91(¶27-28); 4JA000702-04(¶55-57); 4JA000706(¶64-

67). These violations resulted in over \$300 million in fines and penalties borne by Dish, thereby harming it and its shareholders. 4JA000701-02(¶49). Plaintiffs-Appellants ("Plaintiffs") are Dish shareholders Plumbers Local Union No. 519 Pension Trust Fund and City of Sterling Heights Police and Fire Retirement System. 4JA000687(¶¶14-15).

DISH provides, *inter alia*, satellite-television services and often contracts with third-party marketers (frequently termed "retailers") to solicit new customers ("activations"). See Krakauer v. DISH Network L.L.C., No. 1:14-CV-333, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77163, at \*6 & n.6(1JA000103) (M.D.N.C. May 22, 2017) ("Krakauer I'), aff'd, Krakauer v. Dish Network, L.L.C., 925 F.3d 643 (4th Cir. 2019) ("Krakauer II"), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 676 (2019). Despite entering the AVC – which described Dish's duties to monitor and control its retailers to enforce TCPA compliance – one Dish retailer, Satellite Services Network ("SSN"), "made more than 50,000 telemarketing calls on behalf of Dish to phone numbers on the National Do Not Call Registry in 2010 and 2011," thus repeatedly violating the TCPA. Krakauer I, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77163, at \*1-\*2(1JA000101-02). Dish knew "SSN had a history of TCPA violations," and was making prohibited calls, yet "[w]hen it learned of SSN's noncompliance, Dish repeatedly looked the other way."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "AVC" refers to the 2009 AVC.

Id. at \*2(1JA000101-02). Ultimately, Krakauer I found Dish "willfully and knowingly violated the TCPA and that treble damages are appropriate to deter Dish and to give suitable weight to the seriousness and scope of the violations Dish committed." Id. at \*37(1JA000112). In this action, Plaintiffs seek to hold Defendants – officers and directors responsible for Dish's misconduct – to account for the significant damage to Dish caused by their breaches of fiduciary duty.

Faced with adjudications of Defendants' TCPA-related malfeasance in Krakauer and United States v. Dish Network LLC, 256 F. Supp. 3d 810 (C.D. III. 2017) ("Dish II"), aff'd in relevant part, United States v. Dish Network L.L.C., 954 F.3d 970, 975-76 (7th Cir. 2020) ("Dish III"), cert. dismissed, 140 S. Ct. 676 (2021), as well as Plaintiffs' Verified Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint ("Complaint") alleging facts established in those cases, 4JA000683-86(¶1-9); 4JA000691-702(¶31-49); 4JA000702-05(¶55-59); 4JA000706(¶64-67)

In *In re DISH Network Derivative Litig.*, 401 P.3d 1081, 1087-89 (Nev. 2017) ("*Dish I*"), this Court authorized deference to an SLC's findings *only* if the SLC demonstrates that its members are independent *and* that the SLC conducted a thorough, good-faith investigation. The investigation here – which

was "pro forma," "half-hearted," and "shallow in execution" – does not merit business-judgment protection. *Id.* at 1092. Appellee SLC nonetheless moved for summary judgment on deference to its recommendation to dismiss the Complaint and the district court granted its motion, dismissed the Complaint, and entered judgment. 77JA017610-32(Order:1-23); 77JA017659-61.

#### VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

#### A. Statement of Facts

#### 1. The TCPA

Congress adopted the TCPA in 1991 in response to "[v]oluminous consumer complaints about abuses of telephone technology." *Mims v Arrow Fin. Servs.*, *LLC*, 565 U.S. 368, 370-71 (2012). The TCPA authorizes a National Do-Not-Call ("DNC") Registry and establishes DNC rules under which "[a]ny person or entity making telephone solicitations (or on whose behalf telephone solicitations are made)" is liable for DNC violations. 47 C.F.R. §64.1200(c)(2). "A person who has received more than one telephone call within any 12-month period by or on behalf of the same entity in violation of the regulations" may bring an action to recover "up to \$500 in damages for each such violation." 47 U.S.C. §227(c)(5). "If the court finds that the defendant willfully or knowingly violated the regulations ..., the court may, in its discretion, increase the amount of the award to an amount equal to not more than 3 times the amount available ...." *Id*.

#### 2. The AVC

On July 16, 2009, Dish entered the AVC, promising 46 State Attorneys General that Dish would comply with the TCPA. 1JA000014-15(AVC:3-4), 1JA000019(AVC:8).<sup>3</sup> The AVC reflected the Attorneys General's determination that Dish "controls the conduct, practices and procedures of its Third-Party Retailers," and, accordingly, that "DISH['s] ... Third-Party Retailers, with DISH['s] ... assent, are acting on DISH['s] ... behalf as its agents." 1JA000013(AVC:2). Moreover, "[c]onsumers who do business with DISH['s] ... Third-Party Retailers reasonably believe that DISH['s] ... Third-Party Retailers are employees or agents of DISH ... who are acting on behalf of DISH ... and, therefore, DISH['s] ... Third-Party Retailers are apparent agents of DISH." 1JA000013(AVC:2). Because the retailers are Dish's "actual or apparent agents, DISH ... is responsible for the conduct of its Third-Party Retailers and is bound by [their] representations ... to Consumers." 1JA000013(AVC:2).

While Dish disputed the Attorneys General's straight-forward conclusions regarding Dish's agency relationship with its retailers, Dish – and its "officers [and] directors" – accepted imposition of the AVC's various "duties, responsibilities, burdens and obligations," although Dish maintained that those duties "exceed[ed]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Defendants Charles Ergen, Cantey Ergen, DeFranco, Goodbarn, Moskowitz, Ortolf, Vogel, and Howard each served on the Dish Board when Dish entered the AVC. 4JA000687-90(¶¶17-23, 26).

standards." applicable legal and common law 1JA000015(AVC:4); Inter alia, Dish agreed to comply with applicable 1JA000019(AVC:8). telemarketing laws, including honoring DNC lists. 1JA000033(AVC:22). Dish was further obligated to establish "policies and procedures[] to ensure that" Dish and any telemarketers it has authorized to contact consumers on Dish's behalf "do not call any Consumers on DISH['s] ... internal do-not-call list or any Consumer listed on any federal, state or local do-not-call list." 1JA000033(AVC:22). It was also obliged to "monitor ... outbound telemarketing campaigns conducted by an Authorized Telemarketer to determine whether the Authorized Telemarketer is complying with all applicable [DNC laws]." 1JA000033-35(AVC:22-24).

Dish agreed to "require its Third-Party Retailers to comply with the [se] terms and conditions" and assumed the duties to "affirmatively investigate Complaints ... pertaining to its Third-Party Retailers' [marketing activity on Dish's behalf], and [to] take appropriate and reasonable disciplinary action as soon as reasonably practicable, against any Third-Party Retailer it has determined to be in violation of the requirements of this Assurance." 1JA000019(AVC:8); 1JA000031(AVC:20); 1JA000033-35(AVC:22-24). Dish's AVC-imposed duties regarding its third-party retailers were mandatory regardless of whether they were also imposed by any other source of legal obligation (such as the TCPA). 1JA000014-15(AVC:3-4). Dish (mistakenly) believed the duties imposed by the AVC "exceeded applicable legal

and common law standards" but nonetheless "agreed to [them] by signing [the AVC]." 1JA000014-15(AVC:3-4).

The AVC also expressly provided that Dish's directors and officers – *i.e.*, Defendants here – shall be responsible for Dish's TCPA compliance, stating Dish's "duties, responsibilities, burdens and obligations undertaken in connection with [the AVC] shall apply to DISH Network *and* [its] officers [and] directors." 1JA000019(AVC:8). Accordingly, Dish was required to provide a copy of the AVC to its officers and directors. 1JA000019(AVC:8).

By July 20, 2009, Defendants Charles Ergen, DeFranco, and , managers at Dish, were briefed on the AVC's terms, including those related to the TCPA. 5JA000951(SLC Report:212) ("Most Director Defendants learned about the 2009 AVC around the time that DISH entered into it from various sources.")

Thus, these Director Defendants were aware of the AVC's terms and Defendants' obligations to cause Dish and its third-party retailers to honor the TCPA and DNC laws.

# 3. Krakauer Details Dish's Multifarious AVC and TCPA Violations

Even though the AVC comprised a TCPA-compliance roadmap, Dish's

Defendants DeFranco, Charles Ergen, Cantey Ergen, Clayton, Moskowitz, Ortolf, and Vogel – did nothing to improve Dish's TCPA compliance efforts, as evidenced by Dish's disregard of SSN's many thousands of TCPA violations committed while acting in Dish's stead. *Krakauer I*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77163, at \*19(1JA000106-07) ("the record is silent about any efforts Dish undertook to comply with the promises and assurances it made"); *id.* at \*28-\*30(1JA000109-10) ("Dish had the power to control SSN's telemarketing; it simply did not care whether SSN complied with the law or not.... Dish would turn a blind eye to any recordkeeping lapses and telemarketing violations by SSN ...."); *id.* at \*20(1JA000107) (DeFranco testified ""[t]his is how we operated even prior to the agreement as it related to telemarketing."")

Bedeviled by Dish's unwanted telemarketing calls, Thomas Krakauer brought a consumer-class-action lawsuit against Dish for TCPA violations in federal court. *Krakauer I*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77163, at \*3-\*4(1JA000102). Following a six-day trial, on January 19, 2017 the jury found Dish violated the TCPA and awarded the plaintiff class \$400 per violation. 1JA000099.

On May 22, 2017, following post-trial briefing, Judge Eagles ordered Dish to pay treble damages of \$65.1 million, justifying the order with a searing indictment of Dish's misconduct committed on Defendants' watch:

Dish contends its conduct was not willful or knowing for several reasons, none of which are persuasive. Dish first contends that its actions were not willful because it instructed SSN to comply with the

law and, specifically, to scrub its lists with PossibleNow [a compliance vendor]. While there was evidence of this, the evidence also revealed that these were empty words. For instance, when SSN told Dish's compliance department that it was, in fact, not using PossibleNow to scrub customer lists in 2009, and again in 2010, Dish did nothing. In context, Dish only paid lip service to compliance.

\* \* \*

Dish contends that the complaints received about SSN were few in number and insufficient to put it on notice that there were widespread violations, and that everyone involved at Dish believed that SSN was complying with telemarketing laws. First, the testimony that Dish thought SSN was in compliance is not credible and is controverted by Dish's own documents. Second, even if some Dish employees did think this, that belief was only possible because Dish ignored the facts and failed to investigate and monitor SSN's compliance.... Given the tens of thousands of violative calls SSN made in a span of just over a year, even a cursory investigation or monitoring effort by Dish would have uncovered the violations. Under these circumstances, what Dish calls a mistaken belief is actually willful ignorance.

\* \* \*

The evidence shows that Dish's TCPA compliance policy was decidedly two-faced. Its contract allowed it to monitor TCPA compliance and it told forty-six state attorneys general that it would monitor and enforce marketer compliance but in reality it never did anything more than attempt to find out what marketer had made a complained-about call.... The [AVC] did not cause Dish to take the TCPA seriously, so significant damages are appropriate to emphasize the seriousness of such statutory violations and to deter Dish in the future.

\* \* \*

Dish contends that the Court should not treble the damages because the existing damages are material to Dish and will be adequate to deter. This appears unlikely.... It paid a nearly \$6 million fine as part of the Compliance Agreement in 2009 yet Dish's co-founder testified that the Compliance Agreement did not change Dish's procedures at all. A damages award that is an order of magnitude larger is warranted here.

Dish also contends that the harm caused was only a "minor nuisance" and "inconvenience." Dish's description has left out "illegal," not to mention "infuriating." Dish's argument shows a failure to recognize the purpose of the law and is demeaning to consumers who put their names on the Do Not Call Registry and who are entitled by law to have their privacy respected. It also reflects a lack of appreciation for the seriousness of the violations found by the jury: over 50,000 connected calls to over 18,000 private individuals.

*Krakauer I*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77163, at \*28-\*29(1JA000109-10), \*31-\*32(1JA000110-11), \*34-\*37(1JA000111-12); 4JA00069-701(¶¶47-48).<sup>4</sup>

Dish appealed the judgment and treble-damages award but the Fourth Circuit affirmed, finding "ample support" for the district court's factual and legal findings. Krakauer II, 925 F.3d at 662. Krakauer II rejected Dish's argument that Dish and its officials objectively believed Dish was complying with the TCPA:

The district court ... noted the half-hearted way in which Dish responded to consumer complaints, finding that the "evidence shows that Dish cared about stopping complaints, not about achieving TCPA compliance." The court then assessed Dish's arguments to the contrary, finding that its refrain that it knew nothing of SSN's widespread violations was simply not credible: "Given the tens of thousands of violative calls SSN made in a span of just over a year, even a cursory investigation or monitoring effort by Dish would have uncovered the violations. Under these circumstances, what Dish calls a mistaken belief is actually willful ignorance."

Id.

Krakauer II agreed, dismissing Dish's renewed arguments that it was not responsible for third-party-retailer SSN's actions and that it "occasionally" warned SSN to stop:

The evidence also showed that Dish failed to respond to ... concerns [regarding SSN] in any serious way and was profiting handsomely from SSN's sales tactics. It may be that Dish believes that its warnings and admonitions should have been given greater weight by the jury. Because the jury resolved this question and had extensive evidentiary support for its conclusion, it does not matter whether Dish now believes its argument to be convincing. Dish had its chance to persuade the jury, and it lost.

\* \* \*

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Scrubbing" is removing DNC consumers from a call list. Additionally, throughout this brief, emphasis is added and citations are omitted unless otherwise stated.

Dish seems to think that so long as it includes certain language in a contract or issues the occasional perfunctory warning to a retailer the court will not look past the formalities and examine the actual control exercised by Dish. Moreover, Dish failed to recognize that repeated expressions of ignorance as to a widespread problem can evince more than simply negligence; they can also be a sign that the violations are known, tolerated, and even encouraged. Trebling is never to be done lightly. Given the consequences for a company, a trebled award must rest on solid evidence. Here there was.

*Id.* at 661-63.

#### 4. Dish II Reaffirms Dish's Misconduct

While Dish settled with 46 State Attorneys General, the other four State Attorneys General and the federal government pursued claims that Dish was regularly violating the TCPA. In that action Dish was again found liable for numerous TCPA violations, *see Dish II*, 256 F. Supp. 3d 810, its arguments that its retailers were not its agents were flatly rejected, *id.* at 922, and the judgment was affirmed on appeal. *See Dish III*, 954 F.3d at 975-76. *Dish II* explained that "Dish initially hired Order Entry Retailers based on one factor, the ability to generate activations. Dish cared about very little else. As a result, Dish created a situation in which unscrupulous sales persons used illegal practices to sell Dish ... programming any way they could." 256 F. Supp. 3d at 978.<sup>5</sup> Thus, "Dish has some level of culpability for its direct marketing and a significantly higher level of culpability for the illegal calls made through its Order Entry program." *Id.* at 976.

In the Order Entry ("OE") program "Dish authorized marketing businesses to market Dish Network programming nationally. These marketing businesses secured consumers' offers to purchase Dish Network programming. Dish completed the sales solicited by these businesses." *Dish II*, 256 F. Supp. 3d at 821.

The court also expressed "serious[] concern[]" about Dish's response to SSN's nearly 400,000 improper calls – Dish crafted a "standard" letter to consumers "essentially" saying "go away, it's not our problem, go after [SSN]." *Id.* at 987. Despite being "repeatedly put on notice" of violations, Dish routinely looked the other way because the risks "seem[ed] to be greatly outweighed by the results." *Id.* at 858, 929. *Dish II* ultimately concluded that Dish caused its telemarketers – including SSN – to violate DNC laws through "years and years of careless and reckless conduct" and therefore ordered penalties against Dish totaling \$280 million. *Id.* at 983.

# 5. Dish Formed an SLC that Purported to Analyze Whether Dish Should Pursue the Complaint's Derivative Clams

On April 11, 2018, three months after the Complaint was filed, Defendants created the SLC in an attempt to take control of the derivative claims. 4JA000763-64(SLC Report:24-25). The SLC comprised Dish directors Brokaw and Lillis and Anthony Federico, a director of EchoStar Corporation, a Dish affiliate controlled by Defendant Charles Ergen. 4JA000763-67(SLC Report:24-28); 76JA017376-77 (Transcript of Proceedings July 6, 2020 ("JH1"):159-60). The SLC retained counsel to perform the investigation. 4JA000767-68(SLC Report:28-29).

On November 27, 2018, the SLC filed its Report of the Special Litigation Committee of DISH Network Corporation ("SLC Report") with the district court. 4-73JA000739-016874. The gist of the SLC Report was its claim that *no* evidence

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