#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO. 519 PENSION TRUST FUND; AND CITY OF STERLING HEIGHTS POLICE AND FIRE RETIREMENT SYSTEM, DERIVATIVELY ON BEHALF OF NOMINAL DEFENDANT DISH NETWORK CORPORATION,

APPELLANTS,

V.

CHARLES W. ERGEN; JAMES DEFRANCO; CANTY M. ERGEN; STEVEN R. GOODBARN; DAVID K. MOSKOWITZ; TOM A. ORTOLF; CARL E. VOGEL; GEORGE R. BROKAW; JOSEPH P. CLAYTON; GARY S. HOWARD; DISH NETWORK CORPORATION, A NEVADA CORPORATION; AND SPECIAL LITIGATION COMMITTEE OF DISH NETWORK CORPORATION,

RESPONDENTS.

Supreme Court No.: 81704

Electronically Filed
District Court Cas May. 26 2021 04:18 p.m.
A-17-763397-B Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After the evidentiary hearing, the District Court correctly made findings of fact concerning the SLC's independence and the good faith, thoroughness of the SLC's investigation. Plaintiffs are wrong to say that *Jacksonville* precluded findings of fact in favor of a summary judgment standard; it plainly required findings of fact and rejected the summary judgment standard. Plaintiffs further suggest that

Auerbach v. Bennett, 393 N.E.2d 994 (N.Y. 1979), the case on which Jacksonville relied, precluded factual findings in favor of a summary judgment standard. It did not and, even if it did, it would not matter here, because Jacksonville provides the governing Nevada legal standard. There is no good reason for this Court to reconsider the Jacksonville standard. It is consistent with Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 137 P.3d 1171 (2006), In re AMERCO Derivative Litigation, 127 Nev. 196, 252 P.3d 681 (2011) and, more generally, Nevada's statutory business judgment rule. It also reflects the rule applicable in a majority of U.S. jurisdictions.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the SLC had conducted a good-faith, thorough investigation. The finding was supported by substantial evidence, including the extensive SLC Report and testimony from each of the members of the SLC. Plaintiffs nevertheless argue that the SLC's investigation was inadequate, pointing to supposed deficiencies in the SLC's investigation without regard to the actual evidentiary record. As Plaintiffs themselves recognize, for the District Court to have found that the SLC did not conduct a good-faith, thorough investigation, the SLC's investigation would had to have been so incomplete as to constitute a sham. Plaintiffs do not come close to showing that the SLC's investigation was a sham. Plaintiffs have not identified any manner at all in which the investigation was incomplete. The SLC considered all

the points that Plaintiffs say it should have considered and documented those considerations in the SLC's Report.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the SLC was independent. Plaintiffs do not dispute that a special litigation committee is independent if a majority of its members are independent, nor do they deny that a majority of the SLC members were independent. Plaintiffs' contention that the SLC nonetheless lacked independence because the judgments of two concededly independent members diverged on a "procedural" issue is wrong. The District Court found no such disagreement, and its finding was not an abuse of discretion but amply supported by the SLC Report itself and the testimony of all three members of the SLC. Moreover, even if there were such disagreement between independent members, it would serve only to confirm their independence and did not affect the independence of the SLC's ultimate unanimous decision that pursuit of the Claims is not in DISH's best interest.

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. Standard of Review

As established in *Jacksonville*, and as Plaintiffs agree, the Supreme Court reviews the District Court's decision to defer to the business judgment of a special litigation committee for an abuse of discretion. 133 Nev. at 443-44, 401 P.3d at 1088 ("[T]he application of this standard is a matter left to the sound discretion of

the district court, and absent an abuse of that discretion, the district court's rulings will not be disturbed on appeal.") (citations omitted).

Under this standard of review, the Supreme Court will not reverse the District Court's findings of fact "unless they are clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence." *NOLM, LLC v. Cty. of Clark*, 120 Nev. 736, 739, 100 P.3d 658, 661 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). Where "the trial court, sitting without a jury, makes a determination predicated upon conflicting evidence, that determination will not be disturbed on appeal where supported by substantial evidence." *Edwards Indus., Inc. v. DTE/BTE, Inc.*, 112 Nev. 1025, 1031, 923 P.2d 569, 573 (1996) (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also Savini Const. Co. v. A & K Earthmovers, Inc.*, 88 Nev. 5, 7, 492 P.2d 125, 126 (1972) (same).

# II. After Conducting the Evidentiary Hearing That Plaintiffs Requested, the District Court Correctly Made Factual Findings.

The District Court correctly made factual findings, as required by *Jacksonville*. Plaintiffs concede that, before a stockholder may proceed with derivative claims, *Jacksonville* requires an evidentiary hearing. (OB 36.) Plaintiffs nonetheless oddly contend that, under *Jacksonville*, no factual findings should be made with respect to the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing. (OB 38-39.) Plaintiffs argue that *Jacksonville* required the District Court to hold an evidentiary hearing, not to weigh the evidence presented, but to resolve the motion through a summary judgment standard. Plaintiffs offer no explanation as to why this Court

would require an evidentiary hearing devoid of credibility determinations or the weighing of any evidence.<sup>11</sup>

Under Plaintiffs' interpretation of *Jacksonville*, the evidentiary hearing is nothing more than an elaborate summary judgment hearing, and if any genuine issue of material fact is raised concerning the independence of the SLC or the good-faith, thoroughness of its investigation, the District Court should ignore the evidence actually presented at the evidentiary hearing, and should not resolve the issue. Instead, Plaintiffs interpret *Jacksonville* to mean that a stockholder should be given control of the corporation's legal claims at that point, even if a preponderance of the evidence shows that the SLC was independent and conducted a good-faith, thorough investigation. According to Plaintiffs, *Jacksonville* "did not mandate fact finding" based upon the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing; it required a "summary

Having requested that the District Court hold an evidentiary hearing and having submitted proposed factual findings, Plaintiffs cannot now claim that it was error for the District Court to have done as they requested. *See, e.g., Hemingway v. State*, 471 P.3d 754, 2020 WL 5634151, at \*1 (Nev. Sept. 18, 2020) (Table) ("A party who participates in an alleged error is estopped from raising any objection on appeal.") (quoting *Carter v. State*, 121 Nev. 759, 769, 121 P.3d 592, 599 (2005)). In all events, the pendency of a motion for summary judgment never prevents a court from proceeding directly to try the issues raised by the motion. *See, e.g., Zupancic v. Sierra Vista Recreation, Inc.*, 97 Nev. 187, 189, 192, 625 P.2d 1177, 1178, 1180 (1981) (recognizing that "[h]earing and trial procedures, such as consolidation and the scheduling of hearings, so long as within the parameters of the governing rules, are matters vested in the sound discretion of the trial court"). A party opposing summary judgment has no right to require that the other party's motion be heard before factual findings are made.

judgment standard." (See, e.g., OB 31, 36.) Plaintiffs' reading of Jacksonville is wrong.

## A. Jacksonville Required Factual Findings.

In *Jacksonville*, this Court *wrote in plain language* that it was requiring factual findings and rejecting a summary judgment standard. First, the Court explained, as quoted above, that a plaintiff may not proceed with derivative claims, after a special litigation committee requests dismissal of the claims, unless and until the District Court "determines," after the evidentiary hearing, "that the SLC *lacked* independence or *failed* to conduct a thorough investigation in good faith." *Jacksonville*, 133 Nev. at 444, 401 P.3d at 1088 (emphasis added). The District Court is required to make these determinations—not merely to identify the existence of a genuine issue of material fact on these points.

Moreover, when holding that it would review the District Court's findings for abuse of discretion, this Court explained:

Jacksonville and our dissenting colleague argue that de novo review is required, analogizing to the standards of review applicable to summary judgment motions under NRCP 56 and motions to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(6). Unlike a motion for summary judgment or to dismiss, however, the district court's review of an SLC's motion under *Auerbach* does not concern the adequacy of the pleadings or the merits of the derivative suit. Rather, the standard we adopt from *Auerbach* involves assessing the weight and credibility of the evidence, and reaching conclusions that depend greatly on factual determinations.

Id. at 444 n.2, 401 P.3d at 1088 n.2 (emphasis added). As the Court also explained,

Such fact-intensive legal standards are appropriately reviewed deferentially . . . . Therefore, we **disagree** with the parties' and our dissenting colleague's arguments **regarding standards applicable to summary judgment proceedings**.

*Id.* (emphasis added). The Court could not have been clearer in requiring factual findings and rejecting a summary judgment standard.

The Court further wrote that its decision was consistent with Shoen and AMERCO, both of which require that factual findings be made after an evidentiary hearing, before a plaintiff may proceed with its derivative claims. *Jacksonville*, 133 Nev. at 444, 401 P.3d at 1088; see also AMERCO, 127 Nev. at 206, 252 P.3d at 690 ("We conclude that appellants adequately pleaded demand futility, but the district court must now conduct a proper evidentiary hearing regarding whether the evidence supports appellants' allegations[.]"); id. at 222, 252 P.3d at 700 ("[T]his matter should be scheduled for an evidentiary hearing to determine whether demand was, in fact, futile."); Shoen, 122 Nev. at 645, 137 P.3d at 1187 ("If the district court should find the pleadings provide sufficient particularized facts to show demand futility, it must later conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine, as a matter of law, whether the demand requirement nevertheless deprives the shareholder of his or her standing to sue."), abrogated on other grounds by Chur, 136 Nev. 68, 458 P.3d 336 and Guzman v. Johnson, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 13, 483 P.3d 531 (2021).

Finally, to make the point absolutely clear, in *Jacksonville*, the Court affirmed the District Court's *findings of fact* concerning the independence and good faith,

thoroughness of the SLC in that case, a result that would have been impossible if the Court had concluded that such findings of fact were impermissible. *Jacksonville*, 133 Nev. at 439, 452, 401 P.3d at 1085, 1094.

In this case, the SLC requested dismissal of the Claims in its Motion to Defer.

After the evidentiary hearing, the District Court correctly made findings of fact on independence and good faith, thoroughness because *Jacksonville* required it to do so.

# B. Auerbach Did Not Adopt the Summary Judgment Standard Sought by Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs argue that, despite its clear language, *Jacksonville* must have *precluded* the District Court from making factual findings after the evidentiary hearing and adopted the summary judgment standard because *Jacksonville* adopted the *Auerbach* standard. And, according to Plaintiffs, *Auerbach* rejected factual findings in favor of the summary judgment standard. (OB 36.) This argument is wrong for two reasons.

First, irrespective of the procedures employed in Auerbach, Nevada law mandates factual findings because this Court in Jacksonville rejected the summary judgment standard, as detailed above. Jacksonville is the controlling Nevada authority.

Second, Plaintiffs misinterpret Auerbach; the New York Court of Appeals in Auerbach did not permit a plaintiff to proceed with its claims merely upon a special

litigation committee's failure to satisfy a summary judgment standard. The court applied a summary judgment standard because it was granting a special litigation committee's summary judgment motion. 393 N.E.2d 994, 998, 1003-04 (N.Y. 1979). It made clear that, had summary judgment not been granted to the committee, factual findings would have been *required* before the stockholder could proceed. *Id.* at 1003. The court explained that the "disposition of the present appeal" turns on whether the appellant has "shown facts sufficient to *require a trial* of any material issue of fact as to the adequacy or appropriateness of the Modus operandi of that committee . . . ." *Id.* (emphasis added). Had the appellant shown such facts, there presumably would have been a trial on the committee's independence and process. <sup>12</sup>

The difference between Jacksonville and this case, on one hand, and Auerbach, on the other, results from a procedural choice by the parties. In Jacksonville and here, the parties decided to proceed directly to an evidentiary hearing, necessitating factual findings; while in Auerbach, the SLC sought first to resolve the case in its favor through a summary judgment motion. No evidentiary hearing was held in Auerbach because the summary judgment motion was granted.

This reading of *Auerbach* was confirmed in *Rosen v. Bernard*, 108 A.D.2d 906 (N.Y. App. Div. 1985). Determining that "the issues of independence of the special litigation committee and the methods of its investigation are potentially dispositive of the lawsuit," an intermediate New York appellate court directed that "a hearing of these issues should be held." 108 A.D.2d at 907.

This Court has adopted a similar bifurcated approach in the analogous situation of addressing demand futility under NRCP 23.1. A court may address the sufficiency of a complaint's allegations at the pleading stage, and, if the allegations are sufficient, it must proceed to conduct an evidentiary hearing and decide the independence of the directors based on evidence. *See* pp. 38-41, *infra*.

### C. There Is No Good Reason to Overrule Jacksonville.

There is no merit to Plaintiffs' veiled argument that *Jacksonville* should be overruled. As discussed above, Plaintiffs now refuse to acknowledge that *Jacksonville* required factual findings; so they cannot overtly argue for its reconsideration. But they nonetheless do so implicitly, by arguing that *Jacksonville* "makes a great deal of sense" in supposedly adopting a summary judgment standard that it did not adopt. (OB 38.)

Contrary to Plaintiffs' suggestion (OB 37), *Jacksonville* is not somehow out of step with other jurisdictions in requiring an evidentiary hearing and factual findings. *Jacksonville* adopted the majority rule. Nearly all United States jurisdictions that have addressed the issue, including all those that have adopted the Model Business Corporation Act ("MBCA"), <sup>13</sup> require factual findings adverse to a

35

Section 7.44 of the MBCA provides that on a motion to terminate derivative litigation, the movant "shall have the burden of *proving*" that "a majority vote of a committee consisting of two or more qualified directors" has "determined in good faith, after conducting a reasonable inquiry upon which its conclusions are based, that the maintenance of the derivative proceeding is not in the best interests of the

special litigation committee before a derivative plaintiff may proceed with the corporation's claims.<sup>14</sup> Only three states have adopted the rule that Plaintiffs

corporation." 2 Model Business Corporation Act Annotated § 7.44 (5th ed. 2020) (emphasis added).

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